STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES D. CHAPMAN,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2011-198167

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2012

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in qualifying a paramedic as an expert in head injuries and permitting the paramedic to testify as to his opinion that Appellant was not suffering from a head injury in light of the paramedic's lack of training and experience concerning the effects of head injuries?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder during its April 2011 term. Indictment. The prosecution, represented by L. Mark Moyer, called the case for trial on August 22, 2011 before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker and a jury. R. 1. Brian P. Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. After a two-day trial, the jury found Appellant guilty of murder. Supp R. 1, l. 21 – R. 267, l. 14. Judge Welmaker sentenced Appellant to life in prison. R. 268, l. 25 – R. 269, l. 2; Sentence sheet.

This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in qualifying a paramedic as an expert in head injuries and permitting the paramedic to testify as to his opinion that Appellant was not suffering from a head injury in light of the paramedic's lack of training and experience concerning the effects of head injuries.

Appellant admitted that on April 23, 2010, he killed his mother. R. 7, ll. 14-16; R. 8, l. 21; R. 210, ll. 4-13; R. 243, ll. 5-6. At the time of the incident, Appellant lived with his mother in an apartment. R. 216, l. 6 – R. 217, l. 2. During the evening of April 23, 2010, Appellant went to Sharkey's Pub where he ordered five shots of tequila and three beers. R. 203, ll. 18-19; R. 204, ll. 23-24; R. 219, ll. 9-13. Appellant testified the tequila shots were doubles, and he drank all of the alcohol himself. R. 205, ll. 2-14. Afterwards, he went home where he and his mother engaged in a confrontation concerning Appellant's drinking. R. 207, ll. 2-5; R. 207, ll. 10-17; R. 208, ll. 3-8; R. 208, l. 23 – R. 209, l. 3; R. 239, l. 25 – R. 240, l. 12. According to Appellant, his mother hit him repeatedly in the head. R. 209, ll. 11-12; R. 210, l. 1; R. 210, l. 4; R. 214, ll. 9-12; R. 215, ll. 5-8; R. 225, ll. 14-15; R. 228, ll. 2-8. In a rage, Appellant struck back at his mother several times. R. 210, ll. 5-15; R. 224, l. 9 – R. 225, l. 15. She died as a result of blunt force trauma of the head. R. 172, ll. 1-8.

Appellant presented evidence that he was guilty of voluntary manslaughter, not murder. R. 7, ll. 7-22; R. 243, ll. 7-18. Primarily, Appellant relied upon the injuries to his head as evidence that he acted in the sudden heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation. R. 247, ll. 3-11. Appellant explained that he "went crazy" and acted in the sudden heat of passion after receiving multiple blows to his head. R. 247, l. 20 – R. 248, l. 2; R. 249, ll. 5-7.

The prosecution called Brian Simmons, a paramedic, to testify. Simmons, who had been working for EMS for five years, was employed by Greenville County EMS at the time. R. 42, ll. 19-24. In order to become a paramedic, Simmons “went through [his] basic level of EMT, [his] intermediate level of EMT and [his] paramedic level.” R. 43, ll. 11-13. He responded to the incident location at 10:10 p.m. R. 43, l. 14 – R. 44, l. 2. Simmons determined the victim was dead on arrival after a brief evaluation. R. 45, l. 6; R. 45, l. 13 – R. 46, l. 11. Thereafter, Simmons began drafting his report in the hallway of the apartment complex. R. 46, l. 14-17. Officers had placed Appellant, who was handcuffed, in the hallway. R. 46, ll. 18-19. Simmons described Appellant as “very excited, very talkative, and verbally aggressive.” R. 46, ll. 22-24. In this state, Appellant admitted to killing the victim. R. 47, l. 22 – R. 48, l. 4.

Simmons testified that an officer asked him to look at Appellant’s physical condition. R. 48, ll. 10-12. Simmons testified that Appellant’s “wounds appeared minor” because they “appeared superficial, non-life threatening.” R. 48, ll. 17-21. Simmons admitted he spent a very short amount of time looking at Appellant’s wounds, however. R. 48, ll. 23-25. Simmons administered no medical treatment to Appellant. R. 49, ll. 7-10. In response to the prosecutor’s questioning, Simmons testified that Appellant acted inconsistent with a person who had a head injury. R. 50, ll. 2-7. When the prosecutor asked Simmons to elaborate and Simmons began discussing a “typical closed head injury or something that’s going on with [the] brain,” Appellant objected that Simmons was testifying as an expert, but had not been qualified as such. R. 50, ll. 8-13. The judge sustained the objection and directed the prosecutor to lay a foundation. R. 50, ll. 16-17.

Thereafter, Simmons explained the training he received to allow him “to make the assessment that [he was] making” to include school for basic EMT, intermediate EMT, and paramedic. R. 50, ll. 21-23. In order to obtain his status as paramedic, Simmons testified he attended one thousand hours of classroom and clinical time. R. 50, l. 25 – R. 51, l. 1. He explained that he took “a brief class” on traumatic brain injuries. R. 51, l. 2-9. As a paramedic, he saw people with head trauma “every once in a while.” R. 51, l. 10-14.

Appellant engaged in voir dire of Simmons concerning his qualifications as an expert in head injuries. Simmons admitted that he did not encounter people with head injuries “regular enough ... to establish a pattern” or “to give a number.” R. 52, ll. 3-9. Appellant objected to the prosecutor’s request to qualify Simmons as an expert in head injuries. R. 52, ll. 10-11. Nevertheless, the trial judge “allow[ed] him to testify as to his expertise limited to that or what he’s been trained under EMS.” R. 52, ll. 15-17.

In response to the prosecutor’s questioning, Simmons opined that Appellant acted inconsistent with people who suffer from a head injury. According to Simmons people with head injuries are “either combative or, more or less, comatose or unconscious.” R. 52, ll. 18-25. In Simmons’ opinion, Appellant was “the opposite of combative” because he was “sitting there while he was talking” and “didn’t seem incoherent, slinging around, fighting.” As to not being comatose, Appellant “was alert, talking, knew the events that had happened, was discussing them.” R. 53, ll. 1-7. On cross-examination, Simmons clarified that in his opinion, Appellant was not suffering from a head injury because he “was not either combative or unconscious.” R. 53, ll. 15-20.

During his closing argument, the solicitor relied upon Simmons' testimony to undermine Appellant's argument that he was guilty of voluntary manslaughter, not murder.

The solicitor argued to the jury:

As for this supposed head wound, you can look at the photographs and you heard what the EMS worker said. It was not that serious. Head wounds bleed very severely. Head wounds bleed a lot. He'd be struck on the head, sure. Not enough to affect his ability to understand what was going on.

R. 262, ll. 17-22.

The qualification of a witness as an expert and the subsequent admission of that witness' opinion testimony are matters within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006); Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 285, 457 S.E.2d 344, 345 (1995); Manning v. City of Columbia, 297 S.C. 451, 453, 377 S.E.2d 335, 336-337 (1989); Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 530, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988). Therefore, an appellate court reviews a trial judge's ruling concerning an expert witness' qualification and the admission of opinion testimony for an abuse of discretion. Strange v. South Carolina Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 307 S.C. 161, 163, 414 S.E.2d 138, 139 (1992); Honea, 295 S.C. at 530; 369 S.E.2d at 849. "An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005); see also, Suess, 318 S.C. at 285, 457 S.E.2d at 345. If the ruling is "manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair," then the trial court abused his discretion. Id.

Rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence governs when the admission of expert testimony is appropriate and supplies the bases by which an expert may be qualified to give an opinion. Specifically, the Rule provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702, SCRE. Thus, several criteria must be met prior to the admission of expert testimony. First, the trial court must determine that such evidence will assist the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue. Second, the witness must be qualified as an expert due to experience or training. Third, the trial court must determine whether the proposed expert testimony satisfies a reliability threshold for the jury's ultimate consideration. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009).

The first criterion requires the trial judge to determine whether the proffered testimony, which is based upon specialized knowledge, will assist the jury in understanding evidence or determining a fact. A matter understood without any specialized knowledge does not require the witness to be qualified as an expert. Additionally, if the testimony will not assist the jury's understanding of a relevant matter, then no expert testimony is needed. See Manning, 297 S.C. at 453-454, 377 S.E.2d at 337 (holding that "[t]o qualify as an expert, a person must have acquired by study or practical experience a special knowledge of a subject matter about which the jury's good judgment and average knowledge is inadequate"); Honea, 295 S.C. at 531, 369 S.E.2d at 849. The third criterion requires the trial judge to ensure the proffered testimony "meets a reliability threshold for the jury's ultimate consideration." White, 382 S.C. at 270, 676 S.E.2d at 686. As explained by the South Carolina Supreme Court, "[r]eliability is a central feature of Rule 702 admissibility." Id.

The second criterion, which is at issue in Appellant's case, requires that the expert's proffered testimony be based upon "knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education." In order for a witness to be competent to testify as an expert, the "witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony." O'Tuel v. Villani, 318 S.C. 24, 28, 455 S.E.2d 698, 701 (Ct. App. 1995). Qualification as an expert "depends on the particular witness' reference to the subject." Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hospital, 326 S.C. 248, 253, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997); see also Suess, 318 S.C. at 285, 457 S.E.2d at 346. "[A]n expert is not limited to any class of persons acting professionally." Gooding, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598 (citing Botelho v. Bycura, 282 S.C. 578, 586, 320 S.E.2d 59, 64 (Ct. App. 1984)). In addition, our courts place no exact requirement regarding how that knowledge or skill must be acquired by the witness. Honea, 295 S.C. at 531, 369 S.E.2d at 849. In fact, "[e]ven where the problem presented may be one that usually requires some scientific knowledge or training, a person with long experience may testify as an expert although he or she did not pursue a special study of the matter." Id.

In McDill v. Mark's Auto Sales, 367 S.C. 486, 491, 626 S.E.2d 52, 55 (Ct. App. 2006), this Court held the trial judge did not err in refusing to qualify a state trooper as an expert in accident reconstruction. Although the trooper had experience in investigating accidents and took a six-week accident reconstruction course along with updating courses, the trooper was not a member of the Highway Patrol's accident reconstruction team. The trooper did not use any particular reconstructive techniques in making his determination of the car speeds; rather, he relied upon statements from the drivers as to their speeds. The

trooper had testified in federal court previously concerning his opinion as to accident investigation, not reconstruction. Id. As this Court noted, “if investigating an accident qualified an officer as an expert in accident causation, then every highway patrolman would qualify as an expert.” Id.

On the other hand, in Gooding, 326 S.C. at 252, 487 S.E.2d at 597, the South Carolina Supreme Court held an emergency medical technician (EMT) and paramedic, was qualified to testify as an expert on intubation. The EMT testified that in addition to being a certified paramedic, he had intubated over one hundred patients, and instructed and tested physicians on intubation and extubation procedures. Id. at 251, 487 S.E.2d at 597.

In State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 177-178, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491 (2001), the Supreme Court held a police officer, who was qualified to testify as an expert in crime scene processing and fingerprint identification exceeded the scope of his expertise when he testified as to his conclusion drawn from the measurements and observations he made. In Ellis, the victim was found dead as a result of gunshot wounds near his bicycle and a knife. The defendant admitted to shooting the victim, but claimed he acted in self defense when the victim dropped his bike and approached the defendant with the knife. When the victim refused to stop, the defendant shot the victim. The prosecution’s theory of the case was that the defendant shot the victim while the victim remained on the bike. Id. at 176, 547 S.E.2d at 491. The police officer testified that the victim was on his bike when he was shot based upon his measurements and observations of the crime scene. Id. at 177-178, 547 S.E.2d at 491. Further, the Court held the error in allowing the officer to testify was not harmless in light of the defendant’s contention that he was acting in self defense. Id. at 178, 547 S.E.2d at 491. The Court held the prosecutor was free to argue that the evidence supported an

inference that the victim was on the bicycle at the time of the shooting, and the jury could have concluded as such, but the officer “was not qualified to give such an ‘expert’ opinion.”

Id.

The trial judge erred in qualifying Simmons, a paramedic, as an expert in head injuries and in permitting Simmons to testify regarding whether Appellant’s conduct was consistent with an individual suffering from head trauma. Simmons lacked the required knowledge, skill, experience, training or education necessary for him to testify as an expert. When the trial judge properly sustained Appellant’s objection to Simmons testifying concerning his opinion, the prosecutor had established that Appellant had worked for EMS for five years and had completed courses in EMT basic, EMT intermediate, and paramedic. The foundation later laid by the prosecution in an attempt to qualify Simmons as an expert added very little. Simmons testified he attended a brief class on traumatic brain injuries and saw people with head trauma only “every once in a while” as a paramedic. Simmons’ education and training concerning head injuries was very limited as he explained his class on the subject was brief, not even a full semester class. Similarly, Simmons’ experience with head injuries was very limited as he testified that he encountered them so seldom he could not establish a pattern or give a number. Thus, he lacked the knowledge, skill, training, education, or experience with head injuries to qualify him to testify as an expert. If Simmons were qualified as an expert in head injuries, then every paramedic would be qualified as an expert in head injuries. See McDill, 367 S.C. at 491, 626 S.E.2d at 55.