**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Greenville County  
G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Case No. 07-GS-04-1218, 07-GS-04-1219  
Appellate Case No. 2011-198167**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,**

Respondent,

v.

**JAMES D. CHAPMAN,**

Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON**  
Attorney General

**JOHN W. McIntosh**  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

**DONALD J. ZELENKA**  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5758  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

**W. WALTER WILKINS, III**  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit  
305 E. North Street, #325  
Greenville, SC 29601-2100

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

It is a recognized principle of law that before a witness can testify as an expert, the witness must first demonstrate “technical expertise, usually through education, experience, or

training in the particular field in which the opinion is solicited.” Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 328 S.C. 585, 600, 493 S.E.2d 875, 882 (Ct. App. 1997). Prior to the admission of expert testimony, the trial court must (1) determine the evidence to assist the jury in resolving factual questions; (2) determine the witness is qualified in the particular area; and (3) conclude that the testimony is reliable. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). However, Rule 702 “does not contain a set of mandatory qualifications that a witness must meet in order to be qualified as an expert.” Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 556, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008). Rule 702 recognizes that there are a myriad of ways an individual can possess the requisite knowledge or skills in a field that their opinion in a technical, scientific, or specialized area can assist the jury in determining a fact or understanding the evidence. *Id.* Even if the issue is such that it would normally require the expert to possess some scientific knowledge or training, an individual with significant experience may still testify despite not pursuing a special study of the issue. Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 531-32, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988).

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001); see also State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 324, 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct.App.2001) (“The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial judge's discretion, provided the judge conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.”).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jennings, 394

S.C. 473, 477–78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011) (citation omitted). To warrant reversal, an error must result in prejudice to the appealing party. State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E.2d 413 (2011).

**B. HOW THE ISSUE WAS RAISED BELOW**

During the trial, the state called Greenville County EMS paramedic Brian Simmons. Simmons had worked in emergency medical service for around five years. He stated that his job was to respond to calls for patient care issues. As his training, he initially declared that he went through basic training of EMT, intermediate level of EMT and paramedic level. R. 42-43, Tr. p. 181-182. He described being dispatched to the apartment on April 23, 2010 arriving at 2210. R. 43-44, Tr. p. 182-183. He stated he saw Chapman there sitting in the hallway and handcuffed. R. 44, Tr. p. 183, l. 9. He described being directed to the victim right prone on the floor. R. 44, Tr. p. 183. She was motionless, apneic (not breathing) with a good deal of blood on her wearing pants, a bra, but no shirt. R. 45, Tr. p. 184. After applying a cardiac monitor and pulse check, he opined that she was dead on arrival. R. 45-46, Tr. p. 184-185.

At that point Simmons stated he returned to the hallway and began working on his report in the presence of Chapman. R. 46, Tr. p. 185. He stated he was within 5 feet of him. He described Chapman as “very excited, very talkative, verbally aggressive, sometimes.” R. 46, Tr. p. 185, ll. 23-24. Simmons heard Chapman make comments about what had happened and Simmons made notes about it :

He stated I killed my mom, I kicked her in the fucking head about 25 to 30 times; I beat that Goddam bitch to death; I beat her dead, son; I beat her damn face in, son; I beat that motherfucking bitch’s fucking teeth in. And I also have a note in here that he laughed at times when he made these statements and says that he repeated these and similar statements for the duration of his time on the floor.”

R. 47-48, Tr. p. 186, l. 22- p. 187, l. 4.

EMS paramedic Simmons testified that he was asked to take a look at Chapman by an officer. He stated that the officer stood Chapman up and Simmons described that “his wounds appeared minor.” R. 48, Tr. p. 187, ll. 10-18. He described them as “they appeared superficial, non-life threatening , nothing that would later his behavior or his well-being, ” although he did not spend a great deal of time looking at the wounds because there was not a lot to assess. R. 48-49, Tr. p. 187, l. 20- p. 188, l. 1. When he approached Chapman, he told him to “get the fuck away from me.” Simmons testified that Chapman never asked for medical attention and that he did not apply any medication or treatment. He confirmed that Chapman did not complain of his injuries. R. 49, Tr. p. 188, ll. 1-17.

EMS paramedic Simmons stated that head wounds can bleed a lot because there were capillaries, like the ear, with a lot of small veins. He stated that there was a lot of blood with a minimal injury and “just because there’s a lot of blood from a head wound . . . isn’t necessarily indicative of the seriousness...” R. 49, Tr. p. 188, ll. 23-25. He confirmed that he had seen head injuries that are severe enough to cause trauma. He responded that the defendant was “very much inconsistent.” R. 50, Tr. p. 189, l. 7. The following occurred:

Q. Tell us about that?

A. The typical closed head injury or something that’s going on with your brain would be, would be more combative - -

Mr. Johnson : Your Honor, I don’t think he’s testifying as an expert, hasn’t been qualified. . .

THE COURT: Lay a foundation. I sustain the objection.

R. 50, Tr. p. 189, ll. 8-18.

At that point, EMS paramedic Simmons testified that he went to school for EMT basic in California, took his intermediate at Upstate EMS Council and again at Upstate EMS Council for paramedic. He stated that for paramedic it was 1000 hours classroom and clinical time. R. 50-51, Tr. p. 189-190. He stated that he took a whole separate certification class on Traumatic Brain Injuries (TBI's). He stated that the class was a brief class- not a whole semester, but he received a certification card for it. R. 51, Tr. p. 190. He stated that in his five years as a paramedic, he had every once in a while seen people with head trauma and treated them as a regular part of the job. R. 51, Tr. p. 190, ll. 1-18.

The prosecution then moved to have Simmons qualified as an expert in brain injuries. R. 51, Tr. p. 190, ll. 19-21. The defense voir dired Simmons on his experience regarding head injuries and Simmons responded that he encountered them on his job as a regular part of the job but that he did not do it every daily and not enough to establish a pattern. R. 52, Tr. p. 191, ll. 2-9. The defense objected to the qualification, stating that "it does not look like he has the experience. Judge Welmaker stated:" I'll allow him to testify as to his expertise limited to that or what he's been trained under EMS. R. 52, Tr. p. 191, ll. 15-17.

At that point, Simmons then testified concerning his experience and the Appellant's conduct:

- Q. . . consistent with your training and experience how this defendant's conduct was consistent or inconsistent with someone suffering from a closed head injury?
- A. He was inconsistent in the fact that the head injuries that we typically run in to are combative, either one side of the scale or the other. They're either combative or, more or less, comatose or unconscious. He was sitting in the floor, the opposite of combative. I mean, he, just was, more or less, sitting there while he was talking. He wasn't - didn't seem incoherent, slinging around, fighting. He did appear to have - - be pulling on his restraints. He, obviously, was alert, talking, knew the

events that had happened, was discussing them.

R. 52-53, Tr. p. 191, l. 18- p. 192, l. 7. <sup>4</sup>

**C. Discussion**

The Appellant maintains that Simmons lacked the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education necessary to qualify him to testify as an expert in head injuries. According to Simmons, people suffering from head injuries are typically either combative or unconscious.

R. 52, Tr. p. 191, lines 22-25. Simmons testified that Chapman's conduct was inconsistent with someone suffering from a head injury because Chapman was neither combative nor unconscious, but rather calm, talkative, and alert. R. 53, Tr. p. 192, lines 1-7. Based on the following,

---

<sup>4</sup> During the defense closing the injuries to the head were referenced:

But one of the things that can be a legal provocation for a manslaughter charge is the battery. My client testified that he was hit in the head by an object. You saw the injuries. You will see pictures of these injuries. There is no doubt he was injured. Now I know there is some argument as to how injured he was but I don't know. I think somebody with blood running all over his face with a wound on top of his head is injured. I don't know. Scratches on his arms and stuff. . . . He's hurt. He's injured . He's got blood on his head. I mean it just is what it is. He's injured and there's proof of that. You're gonna have the pictures. You have his testimony. I think that totally believable. I think that's something you can take to the bank.

R. 247, Tr. p. 403, ll. 3- 19.

During the state's closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

As for his supposed head wound, you can look at the photographs and you heard what the EMS worker said. It was not that serious. Head wounds bleed very severely. Head wounds bleed a lot. He'd be struck on head, sure. Not enough to affect his ability to understand what was going on ...

R. 262, Tr. p. 418, ll. 17-22, cited in *Initial Brief of Appellant*, p. 8.

Appellant's argument fails and, as a result, the trial court committed no error in qualifying Simmons to testify as an expert limited to his EMS training.

“[A]n expert is not limited to any class of persons acting professionally.” Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 253, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997) (citing Botelho v. Bycura, 282 S.C. 578, 586, 320 S.E.2d 59, 64 (Ct. App. 1984)); see also, McGee v. Bruce Hosp. System, 321 S.C. 340, 468 S.E.2d 633 (1996) (allowing a physician to testify as an expert on the standard of care used by a surgeon when describing the placement of a catheter despite not being a surgeon); Daniels v. Benard, 270 S.C. 51, 240 S.E.2d 518 (1978) (authorizing a chiropractor to testify as a medical expert to the extent of his knowledge and experience in a personal injury action); Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 531-32, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988) (authorizing a social worker to testify about victim's mental health condition based upon her experience). “Defects in an expert witness' education and experience go to the weight, rather than the admissibility, of the expert's testimony.” Gooding, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598.

Here, the solicitor only sought to have Simmons qualified as an expert witness in head (brain) injuries limited to his experience and training as a paramedic, not as an expert in the entire field of brain trauma. *See* R. 52, Tr. p. 191, lines 18-21. Simmons's training and experience qualified him to testify as an expert in this limited capacity. *See id.* (holding that a paramedic did not need to be an anesthesiologist to testify as an expert in the field of intubation). Simmons received his EMT basic from a school in California, and then he went back to school to receive his EMT intermediate and paramedic from Upstate EMS Council. R. 50, Tr. p. 189, lines 21-23. To receive his paramedic, Simmons had to undergo 1,000 hours of classroom and clinical time. Simmons took a separate class on traumatic brain injuries (TBIs) and received a separate

certification card on traumatic brain injuries. R. 50-51, Tr. p. 189, line 25 - p. 190, line 9. In addition, Simmons had worked as a paramedic for five years and testified that it was a regular part of his job to encounter and treat people with head injuries. R. 51, 52, Tr. p. 190, lines 10-18; p. 191, lines 5-6. Although he did not have daily experience with brain injuries, his 5 years of experience revealed that it was a regular part of the job that he faced and had to assess.

In short, Simmons possessed the required knowledge to testify as an expert about head injuries and the appearance of such an injury for the paramedic to determine based upon both his training and experience. Although the witness did not have daily contact with brain trauma, his experience reveals that he regularly required to assess the existence of brain injury. R. 52, Tr. p. 191. Simmons was actively working as a paramedic with both school and firsthand training and experience on dealing with people with head injuries. Moreover, he received certification on traumatic brain injuries (TBIs). Simmons was qualified in this limited area because of his significant 5 years experience dealing with head injuries as a regular part of his job. *See Honea*, 295 S.C. at 531-32, 369 S.E.2d at 849.

The Appellant suggests that to be qualified to testify as to the symptoms individuals suffering brain trauma possess, it would require that they encounter it on a daily basis. This is too high of a standard. Simmons assessed it as a regular part of his job for five years -he just did not encounter it on a daily basis. Further, it is undisputed that Simmons took the available class for traumatic brain injuries, although it is not a semester long class. The Appellant does not explain how the claimed brevity of the class disqualified Simmons from the testimony. He ignores that he completed the entire class. The fact that a pattern for encounter brain injury speaks for itself. He could not state that it occurred on a daily basis, but acknowledged that it was a regular part of

the job. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in limited his expertise to what he had been trained for as an EMS.

Rule 702 does not mandate a set of qualifications that are required to be qualified as an expert and it recognizes the that there are a variety of ways in which an individual can garner the knowledge necessary to qualify as an expert witness. *Fields*, 376 S.C. at 556, 658 S.E.2d at 86. Appellant's trial counsel was free to cross-examine Simmons on his experience, but "any defects in the amount or quality of his experience go to the weight of his testimony and not to its admissibility." *Hawkins*, 328 S.C. at 599, 493 S.E.2d at 883. The fact that Appellant believes Simmons has less training and education than is necessary to qualify him as an expert is relevant to his credibility as a witness and affects the weight, not the admissibility, of his testimony. *See Gooding*, 326 S.C. at 253, 487 S.E.2d at 598. Appellant's position should be summarily rejected and his appeal dismissed.

Furthermore, the actual issue raised at trial by the defense did not concern the extent of any brain injury that the Appellant possess as a result of his struggle with his mother, but the extent of whether the Appellant was intoxicated at the time of the crime. The State's questioning of EMS paramedic Simmons was anticipatory of potential defense claims. Chapman appeared similar to other witnesses who testified at trial. Officer Grubbs described Chapman, upon his arrival, as having blood on his face, sweating , and appeared to be in a state of excitement. R. 20, Tr. p. 159, ll. 21-25. Although Officer Grubbs looked briefly at the injury, he saw scratches or cuts on the top of his head, but that Chapman did not complain about the injuries. R. 21, Tr. p. 160, ll. 8-10. He stated that Chapman did not appear to be in any physical distress. R. 29-30, Tr. p. 168-169. He appeared to be in an "adrenaline rush, sweating and speaking rapidly. R. 31, Tr.

p. 170, ll. 9-18. Officer Christopher Powell described that he did not see any indication of intoxication. R. 36-37, 40-41, Tr. p. 175-176, 179-180. Greenville Police Department Sgt. Allen Johnson testified that he came into contact with Chapman at the apartment and transported him down the elevator and found his demeanor to be slightly excited and acting like it was not a big deal, but did not appear impaired by any injury and did not ask for any treatment or complain of injuries. R. 88-89, Tr. p. 230-231. Greenville Police officer Zoila Lopez transported the Appellant from the apartment to the law enforcement center. R. 91, Tr. p. 233. She stated that he had a clam demeanor while making comments about the crime and did not complain of injuries or appear intoxicated. R. 94-95, Tr. p. 236-237. She stated that he had blood on the top of his head. R. 97-98, Tr. p. 239-240.

Greenville Police Sgt. Kelly Riggs described seeing Chapman at the Greenville Law Enforcement Center. She recalled that he had injuries to his head (notable because blood was actually coming down the side of his face), scratches on his arm and a cut on his hand. R. 109, Tr. p. 251. The injuries were documented in a photograph - State's Exhibits 25-34. R. 111-12, Tr. p. 253-254.

During the interview of the Appellant, Sgt. Griggs noted that Chapman appeared to understand his rights and his mental state was rational without any appearance or mannerisms to suggest impairments. R. 115-16, Tr. p. 257-258. She stated he was cooperative and cordial. R. 117, Tr. p. 259. She stated his demeanor during the interview was very calm, relaxed, very deliberate and "kind of a sense of defiance on his response." R. 118, Tr. p. 260, ll. 17-25. She stated that after the interview, Chapman fell asleep (but did not pass out). R. 124-25, Tr. p. 266-267. She stated that when he was booked, she described the injuries to the booking agent and

explained that EMS had looked at him and cleared him. She stated that Chapman stated that he was all right and that he just needed a shower and to wash up. R. 126, Tr. p. 268.

Greenville Investigator Audrey Lindler testified that she came into contact with Chapman at the interview room. R. 138, Tr. p. 280. She stated that he never complain or asked for medical treatment. R. 139-140, Tr. p. 281-82. He stated that he did not act like he was suffering any mental defects nor that he was under the influence of alcohol. R. 141, Tr. p. 283. However, Chapman did advise her that he had two beers at Sharkey's Pub. R. 141-42, Tr. p. 283-284. She learned that he had ordered 5 tequila hots and three Budweisers and was sitting with 5 or 6 other people. R. 141-42, Tr. p. 283-284.<sup>5</sup> She stated that she did notice the injuries on Chapman, but confirmed that she did not think he appeared intoxicated. R. 155, Tr. p. 297.

Officer Michael Austin testified that he saw Chapman in his cell at 9:00 on the floor sleeping when he woke him up to read the warrant. R. 163, Tr. p. 307. He described Chapman as cordial. He stated that he did not appear injured to him. R. 165-66, Tr. p. 309-310.

When the defense case began the emphasis was not on potential brain injury, but a claim of intoxication. At trial, the Appellant testified that he arrived at Sharkey's Pub at 6 PM and stayed until 9 PM. R. 203-04, Tr. p. 352-353. He claimed the receipt stated he had three Budweisers and five tequilas. R. 204, Tr. p. 353.<sup>6</sup> He stated that when he left to go home he felt like a ton of bricks. R. 205, Tr. p. 354. He stated he did not pay the bill. R. 205, Tr. p. 354. Chapman described the altercation with his mother claiming that she claimed he was drunk as the

---

<sup>5</sup>In the defense case, the receipt from April 23, 2010 at 6:39 PM from Sharkey's Pub was introduced. R. 189, Tr. p. 338. Defense Exhibit 2.

<sup>6</sup>He denied sharing any of the drinks with others that night during his cross-examination. R. 221-22, Tr. p. 370-371.

genesis of the fight. R. 208-09, Tr. p. 357-358. He stated that she hit him with something and his "lights went out" and then he got up and she hit him again he had "blood in his eyes" and could not see her, but started pushing and swinging at her, fighting like dogs for 10 minutes. R. 210, Tr. p. 359. Also R. 227-28, Tr. p. 376-77. He stated he then realized that he had killed her. R. 210, Tr. p. 359. He then called his brother and then he went into the bathroom to clean up and saw that he was bleeding. R. 210-11, Tr. p. 359-360. He claimed that he was suicidal when the police arrived and started saying stupid things hoping the police would shot him. H stated that he felt mentally broke at the time. He claimed that he was intoxicated at the time R. 212, Tr. p. 361, ll. 6-8. When he could to the law enforcement center, he claimed he was on the verge of a nervous breakdown and emotionally tapped out. R. 213, Tr. p. 362. He felt he could not even talk and was thirsty because the tequila had dried him out. R. 213, Tr. p. 362.

Respondent submit that the limited admission of evidence from the paramedic that Chapman did not possess symptoms of a brain injury was not an abuse of discretion. Further, any effect of the admission was harmless error because Chapman has failed to show - in any manner - how the evidence prejudiced him. The existence of the injury was presented to the jury through the photographs and witness testimony. His assertion that the blow to the head supported provocation was presented through argument and the Appellant's own testimony. Any alleged error in the admission is non-prejudicial and harmless. A new trial is not warranted.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, the judgment of conviction must be affirmed.